1960

Lavon Belnap Duncan v. Western Refrigeration Co. et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Throughout this brief the Appellant will be referred to as the Plaintiff and the Respondents will be referred to as Defendants.

I

The uncontested facts are as follows:

Marion W. Duncan, 47, husband of the plaintiff, and father of her five minor sons, ages three to fifteen years, died from injuries received when he was struck by an automobile owned by the defendant, Western Refrigeration Company, doing business as, and hereinafter re-

ferred to as Utah Ice & Storage Company, which vehicle was being then driven by the defendant, Norton F. Hecker. Death resulted about three hours after the fatal accident, which occurred at approximately 7:30 A.M. on August 27, 1958. The deceased did not regain consciousness. The weather was dry and clear.

A statement stipulated to and read into the record on the part of Mrs. Darlene P. Officer (R. 220-223) established that prior to the collision Mr. Duncan had left a panel truck, being driven by Mrs. Officer and parked facing North at the East curb of Main Street opposite the Duncan home at 1490 South Main, Salt Lake City. Mr. Duncan crossed Main Street to the West for the purpose of obtaining a pillow to sit on in the panel truck enroute to Ogden. Mrs. Officer saw him run from the center stripes toward the West curb and take a pillow from a pick-up truck parked at the West curb. She thereafter was looking North and did not observe him again until after the collision which she estimates took place about one minute after she last observed him. She did not see the collision, nor did anyone else except the defendant, Norton F. Hecker.

The most probable inference was that Mr. Duncan was returning across the street at the time he was struck. There was no marked cross-walk at the point of crossing.

II

The contested facts are as follows:

A. Plaintiff introduced testimony that Lorin C. Kelly heard part of a conversation between his wife and Norton Hecker, prior to the arrival of the police, where in Mr. Hecker said that he didn't even see Mr. Duncan (R. 130).

B. Defendant introduced testimony that the defendant, Norton Hecker was traveling North about three car lengths behind a car in the outside lane of traffic, and about one-half car length to the rear of a car traveling North in the inside lane to his left (R. 172-173). These three cars had continued the same relative positions at least since passing Seventeenth South Street (R. 189) and were traveling between twenty-five and thirty miles per hour as they approached the area of 1400 South (R. 173); that because the other two cars

began to slow down he also started to slow and because the car in front of him had almost come to a stop he had to apply his brakes harder; that while he was sliding his wheels and had almost come to a stop, Mr. Duncan came right over and off of the fender of the car on his left, having been either hit or hurled, and struck face first into his windshield (R. 174, 175, 187); that he didn't have time to determine whether Mr. Duncan had been running or what (R. 174); that he never saw Mr. Duncan with his feet on the ground (R. 182); that a pillow came flying through the air just ahead of Mr. Duncan, but that he didn't at any time see the pillow in Mr. Duncan's hand (R. 175, 182); that either the car on his left or the car ahead of him caused their brakes to squeal, probably even before his started and he barely missed colliding with the car ahead of him which had stopped (R. 183); that both of the other cars came to a stop in the same relative positions except that the rear bumper of the car ahead in his lane of traffic was only about two feet ahead of his front bumper (R. 180-181); that both of these other cars were there and stopped when he got out of his car, but disappeared or left the

scene while he was back looking at Mr. Duncan's body (R. 177, 181); he denied saying to Mrs. Kelly before the police arrived, "I didn't even see him" (R. 178).

On cross-examination Norton Hecker admitted telling Officer Begent at the scene that the man he struck came from in front of a truck traveling on his left and ran into the side of his car (R. 185); he did not recall saying in Richard Duncan's presence after talking to Officer Begent that a truck turned out to avoid Mr. Duncan and that he looked up and there Mr. Duncan was and he walked into the car (R. 186); he denied saying in Mrs. Officer's presence after talking to Officer Begent that the sun appeared to be in Mr. Duncan's eyes (R. 187); he admitted telling Officer Begent later in the day at his office, "I remember that the man was waving a pillow that he had in his hand." (R. 185); he admitted telling Officer Begent later in the day at his office that Mr. Duncan was hit or hurled into his windshield by a light colored sedan on his left (R. 187); he admitted telling Officers McGarry and Lyman at the Police Station on the evening of the accident that the car on his left came to

to a near stop after the impact and then turned to the right in front of his car (R. 188); he told how Officer Regent in his presence ran a brake test on his car at the scene of the accident coming to a dead stop from a speed of thirty miles per hour (R. 188).

On rebuttal Norton Hecker acknowledged that he never told the investigating officers about the car that preceded him in his lane of traffic which stopped, requiring him to stop (R. 225-226); he was unable to describe either of the other automobiles (R. 188-190); he testified that he did not sound his horn or turn out to avoid the accident (R. 230).

C. By way of further impeachment the plaintiff introduced evidence on rebuttal as follows:

Mrs. P. J. McKenna, an elderly lady, was watering her lawn with her back to the street at the time of the accident. She heard, but did not see the accident and upon turning around saw only one car, Mr. Hecker's (R. 195-197); Richard Duncan, 15 year old son of Marion Duncan, deceased, standing in the hall of the Duncan home on the West side of Main Street heard the screech

the open front door, saw no cars travel to the North as he approached the door, saw only the defendant's car and none other stopped or moving in the East traffic lanes on the road near his father's body (R. 202-204), that the defendant's car and his father's body were South of the Duncan doorway (R. 208), and that Mr. Hecker had come to the door after the ambulance had left and said the truck in front of him had swerved and he looked up and Mr. Duncan just walked into his car (R. 205) Officer Mickey Begent was limited by the court in what he could testify to on rebuttal, but was permitted to testify that he examined the area of the accident and found only one set of brakemarks and that these led to the defendant's automobile (R. 210), and also that he took measurements of the brakemarks (R. 211), (the court did not permit him to tell the length of the brakemarks) (R. 209); Darlene P. Officer said that Mr. Hecker in her presence said that the sun appeared to be in Mr. Duncan's eyes (R. 223), and that, although she did not see the accident, she was sitting as driver of a parked panel truck at the East curb, that she was looking North when she heard the brakes and impact and that from that

moment no car proceeded North from the point of impact and that as she directed her attention from the North around to the point of impact no car or cars other than that of the defendant came into her vision, this, notwithstanding the fact that like Richard Duncan she saw the pillow (hat) rolling North from the point of impact, and that Mr. Hecker was still sitting in his car when she got out of the panel truck and went around to look at Mr. Duncan's body (R. 221-222).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE WITNESS, LORIN KELLY, TO INSERT HEARSAY EVIDENCE INTO THE RECORD OVER THE OBJECTION OF THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY WITH RESPECT TO CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AND IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE IN THE RECORD.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE SOLE NEGLIGENCE OF THE PLAINTIFF BEING THE POSSIBLE CAUSE OF THE INJURIES.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S

MOTION THAT THE JURY BE DIRECTED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THEY COULD NOT FIND CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AGAINST MARION W. DUNCAN.

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE LAW OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE, AND IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE INSTRUCTION ON LAST CLEAR CHANCE SUBMITTED BY THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT THE PLAINTIFF TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE ON THE LENGTH OF SKID MARKS IN REBUTTAL AND IN FURTHER REFUSING TO PERMIT THE PLAINTIFF TO REOPEN ITS CASE IN ORDER TO INTRODUCE SAID EVIDENCE.

POINT VII

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO RULE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT NORTON F. HECKER, WAS ACTING WITHIN THE SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT.

POINT VIII

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY AS TO THE EFFECT OF PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS GIVEN BY A PARTY TO THE ACTION.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE WITNESS, LORIN KELLY TO INSERT HEARSAY EVIDENCE INTO THE RECORD OVER THE OBJECTION OF THE PLAINTIFF.

The witness, Lorin Kelly, testified on behalf of the plaintiff that he arrived at the scene immediately after the fatal accident (R. 129) together with his wife

(R. 128). He testified that while ministering to the needs of the stricken pedestrian he overheard a conversation between his wife and the driver of the death car, the defendant, Norton F. Hecker (R. 130). That in reply to his wife's question as to how the accident happened he heard Mr. Hecker reply "I didn't even see him" (R. 130). That he then moved away from where his wife and Mr. Hecker were standing and that he heard no further conversation between (R. 130).

Upon cross-examination by defense counsel, Mr.

Kelly was questioned as follows: (R. 133-134)

Q. Now, Mr. Kelly, as I understand it, while you were standing alongside the body of this injured man attempting to determine what you might be able to do to assist him, your wife was moving about and was engaged in a conversation with Mr. Hecker, is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you overheard a part of that conversation?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You did not hear it all?

A. No, sir.

Q. The only portion you heard was Mr. Hecker saying something in substance, "I didn't even see him?"

Q. Your wife told you, didn't she, he said something like, "I didn't even see him, he ran into the side of my car?"

MR. CHILD: I object, your Honor. It calls for a hearsay answer to a hearsay question.

THE COURT: Objection overruled.

THE WITNESS: Will you restate the question please?

Q. (By Mr. Christensen) Did your wife tell you subsequently that Mr. Hecker said, "I didn't even see him. He ran into the side of my car"?

A. She said he said he walked into the side of his car.

The objection raised by plaintiff's counsel was proper and should have been sustained by the court. Defense counsel failing to get the precise answer he wanted posed the objectionable question a third time (R. 134) by continuing as follows:

Q. You were present when your wife's deposition was taken, weren't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did you hear her testimony?

A. Yes, sir: I did.

Q. And at that time she stated that he ran into the car, didn't she?

A. I believe she did.

expressed a willingness to let such hearsay evidence in, and to object further would but emphasize the undesirable testimony in the minds of the jury.

It should be noted that there is no real evidence whatsoever in the entire record of what the deceased was doing at the time of the accident complained of.

The objectionable questions and the answers thereto merely put into the record and before the jury what Mr. Kelly heard Mrs. Kelly say that Mr. Hecker had said. It is difficult to conceive of a more unreliable and improper evidence, but the jury being unsophisticated could not be expected to realize that this was not evidence in fact of what Mr. Hecker did or did not see, or of what Mr. Duncan did or did not do.

Mr. Hecker, one of the defendants, did not elect to testify that he saw or said what Mr. Kelly was forced to testify that he heard Mrs. Kelly say that Mr. Hecker had said he had seen.

What Mr. Kelly heard Mrs. Kelly say that Mr. Hecker told her is certainly not substantive evidence in light of the fact that Mr. Hecker testified that the pedestrian "came off the fender of the car" on his left

and that he ". . didn't have no time to determine whether he had been running or what" (R. 174). On cross-examination he further stated that he at no time saw the deceased with his feet on the ground (R. 182), but that he was hurled by the car on defendant's left into defendant's windshield (R. 187).

The objectionable questions complained of and the answers compelled thereby could not in any way impeach the testimony of Mr. Kelly as to what he heard the defendant, Norton Hecker, say nor did they produce substantive evidence of what Mr. Hecker or Mr. Duncan, the deceased, did or did not do. They did, however, serve to mislead the jury to the prejudice of the plaintiff.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY WITH RESPECT TO CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AND IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE IN THE RECORD.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE SOLE NEGLIGENCE OF THE PLAINTIFF BEING THE POSSIBLE CAUSE OF THE INJURIES.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S MOTION THAT THE JURY BE DIRECTED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THEY COULD NOT FIND CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AGAINST

Points II, III and IV will be joined herein for the purpose of argument. Since no evidence of contributory negligence was offered against the plaintiff, this case should have been submitted to the jury solely on the question of the negligence of the defendants.

Having submitted to the court 17 requested instructions, the plaintiff herein submitted to the court two additional requested instructions numbered 18 and 19, during the plaintiff's presentation of rebuttal evidence and during the recess preceding the second day of trial herein. Said additional instructions were directed to the subject of instructing the jury that as a matter of law, no evidence had been introduced to show negligence on the part of the decedent and thereupon requiring the jury to determine the case based only upon whether or not they found the defendant, or in the case of the requested instruction number 19, both of the defendants negligent (R. 35-34).

Again, upon resting, the plaintiff moved the court in chambers and before the reporter for an order taking the subject of contributory negligence away from the jury and submitting the case to the jury only upon the negligence of the defendants. The court denied this

motion (R. 229).

Although plaintiff submitted its original requested instructions on the basis that the defendant would be expected to offer evidence of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff, such evidence was not forthcoming and it was therefore error to submit the question of contributory negligence to the jury. In 8 of its 30 instructions to the jury, the court treated the subject of contributory negligence. In instructions number 11 and 14 requested by the plaintiff, the subject of contributory negligence was referred to but would not have been prejudicially so had plaintiff's later request or motion been granted. Instructions 6, 7 and 8 treated the subject of contributory negligence in general form. However, the plaintiff cites as prejudicial error instructions number 15, 16 and 19 (R. 90, 91 & 93) submitted to the jury on the subject of plaintiff's negligence notwithstanding the fact that the entire record was void of any evidence to support such instructions.

Plaintiff calls the attention of the court to the case of *Kolp v. Stevens*, 186 NE 821, where the court said:

"where plaintiff's evidence did not show

contributory negligence, issue of contributory negligence was strictly affirmative defense, and where no affirmative proof was offered on defense, charge thereon was erroneous."

Also, the court is directed to the Oklahoma case of *Overstreet v. Bush* (1953) 256 Pac. 2nd 416. In this wrongful death action, a verdict was made by the jury in favor of the defendants. The plaintiff moved for a new trial, which motion was granted and upheld on appeal, the Supreme Court of Oklahoma saying:

"It is elementary that instructions must be confined to the issues raised in the pleadings, and supported by evidence; if otherwise, any instructions so given are erroneous and constitute error, and granting a new trial by trial judge under such circumstances is not error."

Our own Utah court in the case of *Smith v. Ogden and Northwestern Railway Co.*, 33 Utah 129, 93 Pac. 185, has stated the Utah law as follows:

"Where there is a plea of contributory negligence, but there is no evidence on which to predicate a charge of contributory negligence, such a charge should not be given . . . The court should not submit that issue to the jury any more than any other issue on which there is no evidence."

See also the 1947 Utah case of *Pollari v. Salt Lake City*, 111 Utah 25, wherein our court again reaffirms and states

the law to be as found in *Smith v. Ogden and Northwestern*

Railway Company cited above.

The defendant, Norton F. Hecker, was the only living eyewitness to the accident. The plaintiff, Marion W. Duncan, was killed in the accident having never regained consciousness. Under these circumstances the plaintiff was entitled to the well known legal presumption that the deceased exercised due care in his own behalf at the point where the duty was incumbent upon him. See *Lewis vs. D. & R. G. Railway Co.*, 40 Utah 483, 123 Pac. 97; *Compton vs. Ogden Union Railway & Depot Co.* 235 Pac. 2nd 515; and *Tuttle vs. P.I.R.*, 121 Utah 420, 242 Pac. 2nd 764.

Where no positive evident or prima facie case showing negligence on the part of the deceased if offered the presumption will stand and the matter of whether or not the deceased was negligent will be withheld from the jury. In the recent case of *Mecham vs. Allen*, 1 Utah 2nd 79, 262 Pac. 2nd 285, Justice Wade speaking for the Utah Court said:

"If the court concludes that no prima facie showing of the non-existence of the presumed facts has been made should direct the jury to assume the existence of the presumed facts"

or if such facts are determinative of the whole case, he should direct a verdict in accordance therewith."

In the instant case circumstantial evidence would give rise to the inference that the deceased was crossing Main Street not in a cross-walk. Under these circumstances the law imposed upon him the duty to yield the right of way to vehicular traffic. In the absence of actual evidence that he neglected the duty to so yield, the deceased was entitled to the legal presumption that he exercised due care, or in this case yielded the right of way. The record is void of evidence to the contrary.

The defendant, Norton Hecker, elected to testify that he knew nothing of what the plaintiff did or did not do. The case should, therefore, have been submitted to the jury solely on the question of whether or not the defendants were negligent.

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE LAW OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE, AND IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE INSTRUCTION ON LAST CLEAR CHANCE SUBMITTED BY THE PLAINTIFF.

In the event the court felt the defendants met their burden of offering evidence of contributory negligence on the part of the deceased plaintiff, sufficient

to extinguish the presumption of due care to which plaintiff was entitled, plaintiff's requested an instruction (R. 48) on the doctrine of Last Clear Chance. Plaintiff's said requested instruction correctly stated the Utah law, but the trial court endorsed thereon "given as modified and corrected" (R. 48). The trial court then abandoned the plaintiff's requested instruction and submitted the question of last clear chance to the jury on an instruction (R. 95) which was lifted substantially verbatim from JIFU 17.20. The instruction given by the court, although taken from JIFU does not correctly state the Utah law applicable in this case and presented an impossible situation to the plaintiff.

Plaintiff introduced evidence into the record that the defendant, Norton Hecker, had said that the sun appeared to be in the decedent's eyes (R. 223), and also that he saw the decedent waving a pillow in his hand (R. 185). From the reference to the pillow the jury would be justified in finding that the decedent had belatedly become aware of the peril threatening him and was excitedly trying to attract the attention of the driver of the death car. Therefore, the second element of the objectionable instruction, being contrary to the

Utah law, destroyed any opportunity of the plaintiff to convince the jury of last clear chance.

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