1960

# Lavon Belnap Duncan v. Western Refrigeration Co. et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

“\* \* \* The defendant must also realize or have reason to realize *that the plaintiff is inattentive* and, therefore, is in peril. \* \* \* Therefore, the defendant is liable only if he realizes or has reason to realize *that the plaintiff is inattentive* and consequently in peril.” (Emphasis ours.)

The trial court should not be criticized, much less held in error, for choosing the language of an instruction carefully drafted by a committee of recognized experts after mature consideration and deliberation, in preference to the language of an instruction prepared by an advocate in the heat of battle. It is to be noted also, that in the plaintiff’s request she cited in support thereof J.I.F.U., Sec. 17.20. She therefore apparently recognized and represented to the Court that the language of her request was essentially the same as the J.I.F.U. form. Certainly, if there was error in the language of the court’s charge, plaintiff is chargeable with having lead

the court into it, by virtue of having cited the J.I.F.U. form in support of plaintiff's own request.

#### POINT V

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING PLAINTIFF'S PROFFERED EVIDENCE OF SKID MARKS ON REBUTTAL.

We answer here plaintiff's Point VI.

It appears from the pretrial order, that one of the grounds of negligence on which plaintiff intended to rely for a recovery against defendants, was excessive speed on the part of the defendant Hecker. This being so, under familiar principles of law, plaintiff should have offered on her case in chief any evidence which she had to support such a claim. No such evidence was offered. In fact, plaintiff was scrupulous to keep such evidence out of the record on her case in chief, and interposed objections when counsel for the defendant undertook to introduce that subject on cross-examination of defendant Hecker as part of plaintiff's case in chief.

Only after defendant had rested, did plaintiff come forward and offer to prove the length of the skid marks left by the Hecker automobile as a basis for showing Hecker's speed immediately prior to the accident. Plaintiff made no attempt to show that the need for this testimony could not have been anticipated, and in view of her claim at pretrial, could not well have made such a showing. Neither did plaintiff undertake to show that Officer Begent was not available as a witness at the

time her case in chief was presented. Her only excuse for the belated offer of this testimony was that it tended to rebut the testimony of Hecker from which it was developed incidentally on his examination, that he was traveling about 25 to 30 miles an hour.

A wide discretion is vested in the trial court in determining what evidence is admissible by way of rebuttal, and that discretion will not be interfered with by the appellate court in the absence of a clear showing of abuse. The considerations which should guide the trial court in exercising this discretion and the rules with respect thereto, are set forth in 53 Am. Jur. commencing at page 101, Trial, commencing with Sec. 115 as follows:

“While the trial court is vested with wide discretion in permitting departures from the usual order of proof when circumstances of the case require, the general rule is that the party who has the burden of proof — he who holds the affirmative and who would be defeated if no evidence were offered on either side — is entitled to open the evidence; *he should then introduce all his evidence in chief*, and after his adversary has introduced all his evidence in chief, *the former should be confined to rebuttal evidence*. Generally speaking, on rebuttal he can give only such evidence in reply as tends to answer new matter introduced by his adversary.

“If every party had a right to introduce evidence at any time, at his own election, without reference to the stage of the trial in which it is offered, the proceedings of the court would often be embarrassed, the purposes of justice be obstructed, and the parties themselves be surprised

by evidence destructive of their rights, which they could not have foreseen or in any manner have guarded against. Although the rule regarding the order of evidence should be followed as far as practicable, it is not inflexible; the order of the evidence is necessarily governed by the trial judge. \* \* \* Nevertheless, *it is the duty of the parties to introduce their evidence in proper order, and if they fail to do so it is discretionary with the court* whether the evidence shall be admitted. \* \* \*

“\* \* \* Whether there shall be a departure from the usual order of proof is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and an appellate court will interfere only where there is an abuse of discretion, as where the effect is to countenance or aid trickery or unfairness on the part of counsel.” (Emphasis ours.)

§ 120. “After the parties have introduced their evidence in chief they are as a general rule confined to rebuttal evidence that is, evidence which answers or disputes that given by the opposite party — evidence in denial of some *affirmative* case or fact which the adverse party has attempted to prove, — except as the trial court may in its discretion permit a party to introduce evidence which could have been given as part of the testimony in chief. *One cannot, except in the discretion of the trial court, introduce as a part of his rebuttal testimony relative to new and independent facts competent as a part of his testimony in chief.* \* \* \*” (Emphasis ours.)

§ 121. “As a general rule the party upon which the affirmative of an issue devolves *is bound to give all his evidence in support of the issue in the first instance, and will not be per-*

*mitted to hold back part of his evidence confirmatory of his case and then offer it on rebuttal.* Rebuttal testimony offered by the plaintiff should rebut the testimony brought out by the defendant *and should consist of nothing which could have been offered in chief.* \* \* \* Nor, as a general rule will the discretion of the trial court in refusing to permit evidence in chief to be introduced in rebuttal be interfered with, and in some jurisdictions the appellate courts will not review this discretion. \* \* \*” (Emphasis ours.)

Manifestly, there was no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court when his ruling is viewed in light of the above principles. Plaintiff had every opportunity to present the proffered evidence on her case in chief. Obviously that was the proper place for it. It would be most unfair to a defendant to permit the plaintiff to hold back part of his evidence in chief in the guise of rebuttal evidence, simply because it had the incidental effect of rebutting some item of defendant's proof. Evidence with respect to speed was a part of plaintiff's case in chief, and should have been offered at that time. The court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to receive the proffered evidence at the end of the trial.

Plaintiff also seeks to justify the belated offer on the grounds that the proffered evidence would help to establish a last clear chance situation, since it would show the distance deceased was from defendant Hecker, when first observed. However, the undisputed testimony of Hecker shows that brakes were initially applied because other cars moving in the same traffic pattern were slowing down, and decedent was not yet in sight.

Nor would such evidence show where deceased was when first observed, what he was doing, or how he came into collision with the Hecker car. Counsel for plaintiff expressly stated that the evidence was offered to prove speed. No other purpose was suggested. The objection to it was properly sustained.

#### POINT VI

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT HECKER WAS ACTING WITHIN THE SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH THE CORPORATE DEFENDANT AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT. EVEN IF THERE WAS SUCH EVIDENCE, IT WOULD BE IMMATERIAL ON APPEAL, SINCE THE JURY FOUND NO LIABILITY ON THE PART OF HECKER.

We answer here plaintiff's POINT VII.

In view of the fact that the jury found either non-negligence on the part of the defendant Hecker, or contributory negligence on the part of deceased, or both, even if there was any error of the trial court in determining the issue of scope of employment, such error would be wholly immaterial on this appeal, since plaintiff cannot have been prejudiced thereby. However, there was no error in that regard.

At the time of the accident defendant Hecker was operating an automobile owned by his employer and used by him both for business purposes and for his personal pleasure. At the time of the accident, Hecker was on his way from his home to his employer's office, preparatory to starting his day's work. He had no

errands or missions of any type to perform for his employer between his home and the office. He would have no duties to perform for his employer until he arrived at the office. The mere fact that his automobile was furnished by his employer, and that the cost of operation was borne by his employer, did not mean that he was in the scope of his employment at the time of the accident. On the contrary, under familiar principles of agency law, well established by innumerable decisions of this court, he was not in the scope of his employment at the time the accident occurred. The rule is stated in the Restatement of the Law of Agency, Sec. 238, as follows:

“Except as stated in §§ 212-214, a master is liable for harm caused by the use of instrumentalities entrusted by him to a servant only if they are used within the scope of employment.”

Under Comment *b* thereunder, it is said:

“The mere fact that the master habitually allows the servant to use the instrumentality, or even that the master maintains the instrumentality entirely for the use of the servant, does not of itself subject the master to liability. The master is liable only when the instrumentality is being used by the servant for the purpose of advancing the employer’s business or interests, as distinguished from the private affairs of the servant. Thus, a master who purchases an automobile for the convenience of his servants is not subject to liability when a servant is using it for his own purposes; nor is he liable if a group of servants, with his permission use it for private purposes. \* \* \*”

To the same effect see 35 Am. Jur., Master and Servant, Sec. 580.



In a long line of industrial cases, Utah has adhered to this rule. See *Greer v. Ind. Comm. of Utah*, (Utah), 279 Pac. 900; *Fidelity & Casualty Co. v. Ind. Comm.*, (Utah), 8 Pac. (2d) 617; *Roberts v. Industrial Comm.*, (Utah), 47 Pac. (2d) 1052; *Vitagraph, Inc. v. Ind. Comm.* (Utah), 85 Pac. (2d) 601; *Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Ind. Comm.*, (Utah), 110 Pac. (2d) 334; *London Guarantee & Accident Co. v. Frazee*, (Utah), 185 Pac. (2d) 284, and *Wilson v. Industrial Comm.*, (Utah), 207 Pac. (2d) 1116.

Although the foregoing cases were decided under the Workman's Compensation Act, there appears no reason why the same rule would not apply where an injured party seeks to apply the doctrine of respondeat superior. As said by the Supreme Court of Oklahoma in the case of *Ellis & Lewis, Inc. v. Trimble*, 67 Pac. (2d) 244, decided under analogous circumstances:

“The cases above cited are workmen's compensation cases. But there can be no difference in legal principle on this account: It would be absurd to say, in applying liberally the workmen's compensation laws, that one engaged in rendering such services was an independent contractor and was not entitled to the benefits of the law for his own injuries; and, on the other hand to say, in similar circumstances, that he was a servant or agent of the one for whom he was rendering services, and could serve as a conduit to carry responsibility for his acts to the one for whom he was rendering services, and thereby enable a third person to be benefited for his injuries.”

The issue was submitted to the jury, which was more than plaintiff was entitled to receive. Even if there were error, it would be immaterial and non-prejudicial in view of the jury's findings on the issues of negligence and contributory negligence.

#### POINT VII

THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING THE CREDIBILITY OF WITNESSES WERE ADEQUATE.

We here answer plaintiff's POINT VIII.

Plaintiff complains that the court failed to give her requested instructions numbered 16 and 17, to the effect that a witness may be impeached by evidence of inconsistent statements made on other occasions. While the court did not deal specifically with the effect of prior inconsistent statements, the court gave the jury a general and complete instruction regarding the credibility of witnesses in its Instruction No. 26. After advising the jury of various matters which might be considered by the jurors in determining the credibility of the witnesses, the court advised them that they might also consider any fact or circumstance in evidence "which in the judgment of the jury affects the credibility of any witness." The jury was further advised that if they believed that any witness had wilfully testified falsely on any material matter, then the whole of his testimony might be disregarded unless such testimony was corroborated by other credible evidence.

Although the court did not specifically refer to prior inconsistent statements, it would be a naive jury indeed,

which would fail to understand that prior inconsistent statements of a material nature, not satisfactorily explained, would affect the credibility of the witness. Although the requests presented by the plaintiff might properly have been given, the refusal of the court to give them does not constitute error, where the jury was advised by another instruction concerning the credibility of witnesses.

In 53 Am. Jur., Trial, page 557, it is said:

“The jury are properly directed as to the tests of credibility by an instruction that the credibility of the witnesses is a question exclusively for the jury, and that they have a right to determine from the appearance of the witnesses on the stand, their manner of testifying, their apparent intelligence or lack thereof, their youth, and from all the surrounding circumstances appearing on the trial, which witnesses are to be deemed worthy of credit.”

And at page 579 of the same text, it is further said:

“And the refusal of a request is not error where the matter is covered by the court’s general charge, or where not applicable.”

The Utah rule appears to be in accord with this view. In the case of *Black v. Rocky Mountain Bell Tel. Co.*, (Utah), 73 Pac. 514, this court said:

“The following instruction was also given: ‘You are further instructed that you are the sole judges of the facts in this case and the credibility of the witnesses. You have a right to determine from the appearance of the witnesses on the stand, their manner of testifying, their apparent candor

and frankness, or lack of it, their apparent intelligence, and from all the other surrounding circumstances appearing on the trial, which witnesses are the more worthy of credit, and give credit accordingly. You are not bound to take the testimony of any witness as absolutely true, and you should not do so if you are satisfied from all the facts and circumstances proved on the trial that such witness is mistaken in the matter testified by him, or that for any other reason his testimony is untrue or unreliable.' The appellant contends that the terms 'or that for any other reason his testimony is untrue or unreliable,' as used in this instruction, were error. While we do not think that those terms were as clear of ambiguity as is desirable in instructions, yet when read in connection with the preceding language, and in view of the evidence, we do not think they were such as could affect the result, and were not, therefore, reversible error."

No litigant is entitled to demand that any instruction of the court be given in the language framed by the litigant or his counsel. All that any litigant can demand is that the jury be instructed in substance as to the matters before them for consideration. The language of the court's instruction in this case, sufficiently advised the jury concerning these matters, and plaintiff has been unable to demonstrate any prejudice. There was no prejudicial error in the court's refusal to charge in the language of plaintiff's request.

#### POINT VIII

THE APPEAL AS AGAINST HARTFORD ACCIDENT & INDEMNITY COMPANY, NOT HAVING BEEN ARGUED OR BRIEFED, IS WAIVED.

Plaintiff's notice of appeal indicated that plaintiff appealed from the summary judgment entered in favor of the defendant Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, and against plaintiff on the second cause of action. However, that point has neither been cited nor argued in plaintiff's brief. Under familiar principles of appellate practice, it is therefore deemed waived. 3 Am. Jur., Appeal and Error, page 366; *Falkner v. Smith*, 77 Utah 410, 296 Pac. 776; *Sandall v. Sandall*, 57 Utah 150, 193 Pac. 1093; *Smith vs. Carbon County*, 90 Utah 560, 63 P. (2d) 259.

### CONCLUSION

We believe that our argument can be no better summarized than by quoting from the recent opinion of this court in the case of *Joseph v. W. H. Groves Latter-day Saints Hospital*, 348 P. 2d 935, where this court said:

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